FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 5/13/2021 4:42 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/14/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>99772-1</u> (COA No. 53518-1-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL WILLIAMS,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory C. Link Sara S. Taboada Attorneys for Petitioner

Washington Appellate Project 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
D.	STATEMENT OF FACTS
E.	ARGUMENT7
	1. <i>Burke</i> does not remove a proponent's obligation to prove that a declarant made a statement for purposes of treatment and that the medical professional reasonably relied on the statement to treat the declarant.
	2. The redaction of the complainant's name in the to-convict instruction was a comment on central, disputed question at trial: whether Mr. Williams' accuser was a victim of his charged crime
	3. The court erred in denying Mr. Williams' motion for a new trial because his trial counsel performed deficiently when he neglected to secure the testimony of several key witnesses 18
F.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases
In re Personal Restraint of Grasso, 151 Wn.2d 1, 84 P.3d 859 (2004). 7,
State v. Burke, 196 Wn.2d 712, 478 P.3d 1096 (2021)
State v. Byrd, 30 Wn. App. 794, 638 P.2d 601 (1981)
State v. Carol M.D., 89 Wn. App. 77, 948 P.2d 837 (1997)
State v. Christopher, 114 Wn. App. 858, 60 P.3d 677 (2003);
State v. Giles, 196 Wn. App. 745, 385 P.3d 204 (2016)
State v. Jones, 183 Wn.2d 327, 330, 352 P.3d 776 (2015)
State v. Jury, 19 Wn. App. 256, 576 P.2d 1302 (1978)
State v. Lopez, 95 Wn. App. 842, 850, 980 P.2d 224 (1999)
State v. Mills, 154 Wn.2d 1, 109 P.3d 415 (2005)
State v. Redmond, 150 Wn.2d 489, 78 P.3d 1001 (2003)
State v. Woods, 143 Wn.2d 561, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001)
United States Supreme Court Cases
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674
(1984)
White v. Illinois, 502 U.S. 346, 112 S. Ct. 736, 116 L. Ed. 2d 848 (1992)
Constitutional Provisions
U.S. Const. amend. VI
Const. art. IV, § 16
z_{ij}

A. INTRODUCTION

Joshua Pulliam accused his former roommate, Michael Williams, of a serious, reputation-tarnishing crime: rape. But several key facts severely undermined his allegation. First, while Mr. Pulliam claimed Mr. Williams raped him without using a condom and Mr. Pulliam did not shower after the alleged rape, the police did not find Mr. Williams' semen on Mr. Pulliam's body. They did, however, find an unknown man's semen in Mr. Pulliam's perineal-scrotal area. This was despite Mr. Pulliam's claim he was heterosexual. Second, while Mr. Pulliam claimed Mr. Williams forcefully raped him, he did not have any lacerations or significant injuries on his anus. Third, while Mr. Pulliam claimed Mr. Williams dragged him on the floor during the alleged rape, Mr. Williams did not have any injuries on his shoulders, elbows, or hands.

Given this equivocal and contradictory evidence, the State sought to bolster Mr. Williams' testimony by admitting numerous statements he made to a SANE examiner. Over Mr. Williams' objections, the court admitted the statements. However, the court grievously erred when it admitted the statements because the State, as the proponent of the evidence, failed to (1) establish Mr. Pulliam's motive in making the

statements was to promote treatment; and (2) establish the SANE examiner reasonably relied on the statements for purposes of treatment.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals affirmed for erroneous reasons. It did so based on a misapprehension of this Court's opinion in *Burke*, which markedly differed from Mr. Williams' case. This is because in *Burke*, the State actually laid a foundation to admit the statements offered under ER 803(a)(4). The Court of Appeals also affirmed based on its reading of an irrelevant exhibit the court refused to admit at Mr. Williams' trial, which was in error.

The Court of Appeals' opinion fundamentally misapprehends this Court's opinion in *Burke* and dangerously gives courts authority to admit statements under ER 803(a)(4) without the proponent laying the required foundation. For this reason and the other reasons stated in this petition, Mr. Williams respectfully requests that this Court grant review.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Michael Williams asks this Court to accept review of an opinion affirming his conviction for rape in the second degree. The Court of Appeals issued the opinion on April 13, 2021. Mr. Williams has attached a copy of this opinion to this petition.

¹ 196 Wn.2d 712, 478 P.3d 1096 (2021).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Hearsay offered under ER 803(a)(4) must be "reasonably pertinent" to treatment. The proponent must establish (1) the declarant's motive in making the statement was to obtain treatment; and (2) the medical professional reasonably relied on the statement to treat the declarant. The Court of Appeals erroneously affirmed the trial court's admission of several hearsay statements under this exception, as the State did not establish the statements met the required criteria.
- 2. Article IV, section 16 prohibits judges from commenting on the evidence, including the credibility of witnesses. After the parties and the court referred to the complainant by his full name throughout the entire trial, the court used only his initials to refer to him in the to-convict instructions. The court commented on the evidence and signaled to the jury the complainant was a rape victim when it used his initials in the to-convict instruction.
- 3. A court may grant a defendant a new trial if his counsel provided him with ineffective assistance and his counsel's deficient performance prejudiced him. Mr. Williams gave trial counsel a list of witnesses who could undermine the State's case, but his counsel did not subpoena or produce these witnesses at trial. Because Mr. Williams' case

hinged on the complainant's credibility, the court erred when it denied Mr. Williams' motion for a new trial.

D. STATEMENT OF FACTS

In February of 2016, Michael Williams and Joshua Pulliam worked at a logistics company loading merchandise onto trucks. 8/30/18RP 337-38, 342-43. When Mr. Pulliam lost his housing, Mr. Williams let Mr. Pulliam stay in his apartment. 8/30/18RP 343-44. Mr. Williams let Mr. Pulliam know he was bisexual as soon as he moved in, and Mr. Pulliam told Mr. Williams he was straight. 8/30/18RP 345, 416-17. Though Mr. Pulliam claimed Mr. Williams began to comment on his looks shortly after he moved in, the two had a friendly relationship in the weeks that followed Mr. Pulliam's move-in. 8/30/18RP 345, 358-59.

This relationship changed drastically on February 13, 2016. Mr. Williams procured a fake ID for Mr. Pulliam, who was only 20 at the time. 8/30/18RP 361-62. The two drank that evening at the apartment before going to a bar. 8/30/18RP 357. At the bar, Mr. Pulliam drank an additional six shots of liquor at the bar. 8/30/18RP 365, 368, 423. Mr. Pulliam was more intoxicated than Mr. Williams. 8/30/18RP 369. Though Mr. Pulliam initially claimed Mr. Williams provided him with all of the drinks, he later clarified the two alternated between buying each other drinks, with Mr. Pulliam largely buying his own drinks. 8/30/18RP 363, 365-66, 424-25.

The two went back to the apartment. At the apartment, Mr. Pulliam claimed Mr. Williams paced back and forth, started pulling his clothes off, choked him, and anally raped him. 8/30/18RP 374-75, 380-81. Mr. Pulliam also claimed that during the alleged rape, Mr. Williams bit him and licked him all over his body. 8/30/18RP 378-80.

Mr. Pulliam then left the apartment and called his ex-fiance,
Aislinn Turner, hoping she could help him find a place to stay. 8/30/18RP
401. The two met up, and Ms. Turner arranged for Mr. Pulliam to stay in a motel because "he wasn't going to go back to the house with [her.]"
8/30/18RP 401-04; 9/4/18RP 32-33.

The next day, Mr. Pulliam called his father at Ms. Turner's insistence. 8/30/18RP 404. At the time, Mr. Pulliam and his father were not speaking, as they were going through a "rough patch." 8/30/18RP 404. Mr. Pulliam met up with his father, and his father took him to the hospital and called the police. 8/30/18RP 457.

A Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE), Monica Brown, conducted an examination of Mr. Pulliam. 9/4/18RP 71. She saw some bruising on Mr. Pulliam's neck, and he had petechiae on his eyes, which can indicate strangulation. 9/4/18RP 88, 94, 100. However, she also stated drinking a lot of alcohol could cause petechiae. 9/4/18RP 117.

Additionally, although Mr. Pulliam claimed Mr. Williams repeatedly

anally raped him, Mr. Pulliam did not have lacerations or significant injuries on his anus; instead, he had some "general swelling." 9/4/18RP 88, 106, 124-25. While Mr. Pulliam claimed Mr. Williams "dragged" him all over the floor, Ms. Brown did not discover any marks, abrasions, or contusions on Mr. Pulliam's shoulders, elbows, or on the palms of his hand. 8/30/18RP 380; 9/4/18RP 122. Ms. Brown collected several samples from Mr. Pulliam's body and handed it to the police for analysis. 9/4/18RP 67-68.

A forensic scientist assessed this evidence. 9/4/18RP 141. Mr. Pulliam did not shower after the alleged rape and before the SANE examination. 9/4/18RP 115. Mr. Williams' DNA was absent from Mr. Pulliam's buttocks, anus, penis, and perineal-scrotal area. 9/4/18RP 75, 158-59, 165, 167. Mr. Williams' DNA was only present on Mr. Pulliam's neck. 9/4/18RP 115, 131, 168. The forensic scientist did, however, identify an unknown male's semen mixed with Mr. Pulliam's in his perineal-scrotal area and found another unknown person's saliva on Mr. Pulliam's buttocks. 9/4/18RP 159-60, 167. An unknown individual's saliva was also present on Mr. Pulliam's neck. 9/4/18RP 168-69.

Additionally, the court issued a to-convict instruction that referred to Mr. Pulliam by his initials, J.P. CP 34.

The jury convicted Mr. Williams of rape in the second degree. CP 38. After the verdict but before sentencing, Mr. Williams moved for new counsel, and the court granted the motion. 10/5/18RP 630-32. With new counsel appointed, Mr. Williams moved for a new trial based on his trial counsel's ineffective assistance of counsel; specifically, Mr. Williams asserted his counsel performed ineffectively when he neglected to call several key witnesses on his behalf. CP 45-47. The court denied the motion. CP 74; 5/24/19RP 656.

E. ARGUMENT

1. Burke does not remove a proponent's obligation to prove that a declarant made a statement for purposes of treatment and that the medical professional reasonably relied on the statemento treat the declarant.

ER 803(a)(4) provides that a declarant's hearsay statements made for medical treatment or medical diagnosis are admissible, but only "insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment." *In re Personal Restraint of Grasso*, 151 Wn.2d 1, 84 P.3d 859 (2004). The proponent of ER 803(a)(4) evidence must establish the declarant's statement was "reasonably pertinent" to treatment by demonstrating (1) the declarant's motive in making the statement was to promote treatment; and (2) the medical professional reasonably relied on the statement for treatment purposes. *Id.* at 20. Accordingly, courts must consider "the subjective

purposes of both the declarant and the medical professional." *Burke*, 196 Wn.2d at 740.

The proponent bears the burden of establishing it meets the carefully drawn criteria for admissibility under ER 803(a)(4). *See State v. Giles*, 196 Wn. App. 745, 757, 385 P.3d 204 (2016).

Determining the declarant's motive in obtaining treatment is essential to assessing admissibility. This is because "a statement made in the course of procuring medical services, where the declarant knows that a false statement may cause misdiagnosis or mistreatment, carries [a] special guarante[e] of credibility." *See White v. Illinois*, 502 U.S. 346, 356, 112 S. Ct. 736, 116 L. Ed. 2d 848 (1992), *abrogated on other grounds by Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). If nothing in the record shows the declarant understood his statements would further his diagnosis or treatment, then the State fails to establish the first prong of the "reasonably pertinent" test under ER 803(a)(4). *See State v. Lopez*, 95 Wn. App. 842, 850, 980 P.2d 224 (1999); *accord State v. Christopher*, 114 Wn. App. 858, 862, 60 P.3d 677 (2003); *see also State v. Carol M.D.*, 89 Wn. App. 77, 86-87, 948 P.2d 837 (1997).

To demonstrate the medical professional reasonably relied on the declarant's statements for treatment purposes, the proponent must lay a

foundation demonstrating the medical professional used the statements to assess the declarant's future care. *See Grasso*, 151 Wn.2d at 20-21; *State v. Redmond*, 150 Wn.2d 489, 496-97, 78 P.3d 1001 (2003). For example, if the declarant made statements concerning witnessing traumatic events during the alleged crime that are unrelated to the declarant's physical injuries, then the proponent must demonstrate the medical professional used this information to assess the declarant's need for counseling. *See State v. Woods*, 143 Wn.2d 561, 601-02, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001), *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Gregory*, 192 Wn.2d 1, 427 P.3d 621 (2018).

Before the State introduced the SANE examiner's testimony, the State presented testimony from Mr. Pulliam and Mr. Pulliam's father, Curtis Craft. When Mr. Craft first heard about the allegations, he was originally going to "kick [Mr. William's] ass," but Mr. Craft changed his mind and decided to "call the police and do it the correct way because [he] was pretty mad." 8/30/18RP 457. Mr. Craft took Mr. Pulliam to the hospital first, and Mr. Pulliam went to the hospital at his father's behest. 8/30/18RP 405-06, 441. At the hospital, Mr. Pulliam told Ms. Brown about the alleged events that transpired between him and Mr. Williams, and the staff at the hospital examined him. 8/30/18RP 406. Mr. Pulliam

filled out a handwritten statement to the police at the hospital. 8/30/18RP 406.

The State neither elicited testimony from Mr. Pulliam indicating he believed he needed to go to the hospital to seek medical treatment, nor did the State elicit any testimony from Mr. Craft indicating he took Mr. Pulliam to the hospital to ensure his son sought treatment for any injuries.

Ms. Brown testified. The State questioned her regarding her training, and she described learning "interviewing techniques, how to use forensic collection equipment appropriately, how to package forensic evidence and store it appropriately, those types of things." 9/4/18RP 56. She said that in a SANE examination, "one of the most important things is to make sure that there's no contamination of evidence and make sure that the chain of custody for that evidence is not broken." 9/4/18RP 60. When asked if treatment was one of her obligations, she said, "treatment is generally left to the medical personnel in whatever facility you're in." 9/4/18RP 62.

Ms. Brown recounted what she generally tells individuals before the examination. She (1) introduces herself; (2) informs individuals that they can have someone present with them; and (3) tells the individual she is using the evidence collection kit and taking swabs. 9/4/18RP 68.

Though Ms. Brown stated she speaks to medical personnel to let them know her recommendations for follow-up assessments and care, she did not say she relayed this information to Mr. Pulliam. 9/4/18RP 68-69. She did, however, state that when Mr. Pulliam's family came back, she let them know what Mr. Pulliam needed in terms of follow-up care in general. 9/4/18RP 69.

As soon as the State began to elicit questions concerning Mr. Pulliam's statements during the examination, Mr. Williams objected. Mr. Williams objected when Ms. Brown recounted Mr. Pulliam's statements concerning (1) what happened on the evening of the alleged rape; (2) who gave Mr. Pulliam drinks; (3) the names Mr. Williams allegedly called Mr. Pulliam and the commands he made; (4) where the alleged rape occurred; (5) where Mr. Williams allegedly put oil on Mr. Pulliam's body; (6) where Mr. Pulliam went after the alleged rape; and (7) what Mr. Pulliam did at the park after the alleged rape. 9/4/18RP 73-74, 81-83, 87. The court overruled all of these objections.

Consequently, the jury heard the following statements Mr. Pulliam stated to Ms. Brown: (1) he spent the evening with Mr. Williams, and they went to a bar for drinks; (2) Mr. Williams "kept bringing [drinks] to [Mr. Pulliam], and [he] just kept drinking them;" (3) Mr. Williams "kept calling [him] names like little bitch and [told him] to bend over and that [he] was

going to take this dick;" (4) the worst part was when Mr. Williams started to penetrate, and Mr. Pulliam started "crying and screaming, begging for him to stop;" (5) Mr. Williams drug Mr. Pulliam on the ground by his leg and the "attack" occurred on the ground; (6) Mr. Williams poured oil all over Mr. Pulliam's body; and (7) Mr. Pulliam went to a park after the alleged rape where he cried and met up with his ex-girlfriend, who took him to a hotel for the night. 9/4/18RP 73-74, 81-83, 87.

The Court of Appeals held the trial court properly admitted all but the last statement. Op. at 8-13. It did so largely because it interpreted *Burke* to hold that courts can broadly infer the declarant's motive for obtaining treatment, and it interpreted it to hold that courts can also broadly infer that the examiner's motive for asking particular questions was for purposes of treatment. Op. at 10. For example, the Court of Appeals held Mr. Pulliam's motive was to obtain treatment because he "went to the hospital and did not testify that his motives were purely forensic." Op. at 10. Without supporting testimony, it also inferred statements relating to who provided Mr. Pulliam with drinks was relevant to medical treatment because this informed "whether others had access to [Mr. Pulliam's] drinks and whether it was possible a drug was added to a drink he had consumed." Op. at 11.

Additionally, the opinion broadly infers the statements about Mr. Williams allegedly pouring oil were pertinent to treatment (again in the absence of any testimony from Ms. Brown) because "oil or other lubrication could affect the appearance of [injuries.]" Op. at 12. Furthermore, without any testimony from Ms. Brown detailing any obligation to provide counseling services, the opinion claims Ms. Brown had "an obligation to assess [Mr. Pulliam's] need for psychological treatment." Op. at 12.

But *Burke* does not eliminate or otherwise relax the proponent's burden of demonstrating the declarant's statements meet the criteria of required by ER 803(a)(4). Instead, this Court's opinion relies on the foundation the State laid for admitting the statements. In *Burke*, the complainant arrived at a hospital immediately after being raped. 196 Wn.2d at 717. Several hours later, a SANE examiner conducted an examination. *Id.* at 19. The SANE examiner testified her duty was to collect evidence *and* provide medical care. *Id.* at 732. Indeed, the SANE examiner said that "while the emergency department provided [the complainant] with general medical care, [the SANE examiner] provided medications and treatment specifically relating to sexual assault." *Id.* at 722.

The SANE examiner explained she started her medical care of the complainant with the open-ended question of asking her what happened during the rape because this history was "the most important thing to [the SANE examiner]," according to her personal medical training. *Id.* at 721, 732, 735-36, 741. The SANE examiner asked the complainant questions regarding her pain level, allergies to medications, and her use of crutches. *Id.* at 742. She also asked the complainant numerous questions regarding contraception, strangulation, and penetration to determine whether the complainant needed medication to treat sexually transmitted infections or prevent pregnancy. *Id.* at 720, 735. The SANE examiner prescribed the complainant medication and provided treatment to treat the complainant's specific injuries from the sexual assault. *Id.* at 735, 741. The complainant died due to an unrelated reason prior to trial. *Id.* at 718.

This Court held the majority of the complainant's statements met ER 804(b)(3)'s criteria. *Id.* at 740-43. First, this Court held the complainant's statements were made for purposes of medical treatment because her "statements about her pain level, allergies to medication, and need for crutches had no other purpose other than to receive medical treatment." *Id.* at 741. Also, "her answers to questions about penetration, ejaculation, contraception, strangulation, grabbing, and her position during the assault were also likely motivated by a desire to promote medical treatment

specific to assault." *Id*. The record revealed the SANE examiner reviewed a document with the complainant that explained to her that part of the purpose of the exam was to provide the complainant with treatment. *Id*. Furthermore, the SANE examiner explained how her particular questions guided her treatment. *Id*. at 741.

This case is far different than *Burke*. Unlike *Burke*, Ms. Brown did not state she provides medical treatment, and she never provided treatment or pmedication tailored to treat Mr. Pulliam's purported injuries.

Dissimilar to *Burke*, Ms. Brown never stated "the most important thing" was to ask about all of the events surrounding the purported rape. And unlike *Burke*, Ms. Brown did not tell Mr. Pulliam that part of the purpose of the exam was to provide him with treatment.

Furthermore, the opinion relies on an irrelevant exhibit the court never admitted to support its decision to uphold the court's ruling. The court repeatedly references Exhibit 19A, which is the SANE examiner's written report. Op. at 4, 11-12. But the court did not admit the exhibit; it only allowed the State to use the exhibit to refresh Ms. Brown's recollection, and it allowed the State to publish a small diagram from the exhibit. 9/4/18 5-17, 101-03. It is improper for the Court of Appeals to rely on an exhibit the court did not admit.

And even if the court admitted the exhibit, the Court of Appeals still erred when it relied on it. The opinion references the notes in the SANE examiner's report as if the fact that notes appear on the written report, in and of themselves, demonstrate (1) the proponent made the statement for medical purposes; and (2) the examiner relied on the statement for purposes of treatment. *See* Op. at. 11-12. It does not.

This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), RAP 13.4(b)(2); RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. The redaction of the complainant's name in the to-convict instruction was a comment on central, disputed question at trial: whether Mr. Williams' accuser was a victim of his charged crime.

Article IV, section 16 prohibits judges from commenting on the evidence, including the credibility of witnesses. Where the trial court's "to-convict" instruction communicated to the jury the court's view of a disputed fact—that Mr. Pulliam was victim of a crime whom the court actively protected by referring to him by his initials—this redaction was a comment on the evidence at trial.

The Court of Appeals relied on *State v. Mansour*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 323, 470 P.3d 543 (202), *review denied*, 196 Wn.2d 1040 (2021), to hold that the court's use of Mr. Pulliam's initials was not a comment on the evidence. Op. at 13-14. However, *Mansour* ignores the significance of

redacting an alleged crime victim's name in the "to-convict" instruction, instead resolving the question by concluding "the <u>name</u> of the victim of child molestation is not a factual issue requiring resolution." *Id.* at 329. This ignores the significance of the redaction, which is to hide the identity of a victim of a sexual assault.

Contrary to *Mansour's* reasoning, *State v. Levy* does not resolve this issue, because in *Levy*, there was no redaction in the "to-convict" instruction. *Id. Levy's* conclusion that the court's use of a robbery victim's name in the to-convict instruction was not a comment on the evidence because the victim's identity was not an element has no bearing on the question of whether it is a comment to redact that person's name in the instruction to protect their identity. Indeed, if Mr. Pulliam's name, rather than a redaction, were used in the "to-convict" instruction, there would be no comment.

Concealing Mr. Pulliam's identity as part of the to-convict instruction is uniquely damaging. "The 'to convict' instruction carries with it a special weight because the jury treats the instruction as a 'yardstick' by which to measure a defendant's guilt or innocence." *State v. Mills*, 154 Wn.2d 1, 6, 109 P.3d 415 (2005). The opinion of the Court of Appeals presents a significant constitutional question. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).

3. The court erred in denying Mr. Williams' motion for a new trial because his trial counsel performed deficiently when he neglected to secure the testimony of several key witnesses.

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee the accused the right to the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-87, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d 91, 97, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). Counsel's failure to interview and call a particular witness to testify at a defendant's trial can constitute deficient performance. State v. Jones, 183 Wn.2d 327, 330, 352 P.3d 776 (2015); see also State v. Byrd, 30 Wn. App. 794, 799-800, 638 P.2d 601 (1981); State v. Jury, 19 Wn. App. 256, 264, 576 P.2d 1302 (1978).

Mr. Williams' counsel performed deficiently when he neglected to call material witnesses. After his trial, Mr. Williams filed a motion for a new trial. CP 44. In support of this motion, Mr. Williams submitted an affidavit. CP 45-47. The affidavit notes Mr. Williams provided Mr. Currie with a list of individuals he needed to contact and call as witnesses; however, it appeared Mr. Currie never contacted these individuals, and they were never called as witnesses at Mr. Williams' trial. CP 45.

Among the listed witnesses was James Bloom. CP 46. Mr.
Williams averred Mr. Bloom would testify that he gave Mr. Williams a

p.m. on the evening of the alleged rape. CP 46. Mr. Williams asserted Mr. Bloom would testify that Mr. Pulliam came to the apartment shortly afterwards, and he was high on some drug. CP 46. Mr. Pulliam offered Mr. Bloom drugs, but he declined. CP 46.

As Mr. Williams acknowledged, the most critical witness on this list was Jesse Ramirez, a man who was intermittently staying at Mr. Williams' apartment. CP 46. Mr. Williams asserted Mr. Ramirez would testify he let himself into the apartment around midnight on the date of the purported rape and saw a fight between Mr. Williams and Mr. Pulliam. CP 46-47. Mr. Ramirez witnessed Mr. Williams appear extremely angry, and he witnessed Mr. Pulliam aggressively strike Mr. Williams and call him names. CP 47. After this happened, Mr. Williams armed himself and told Mr. Pulliam to leave his apartment. CP 47. At no point did Mr. Ramirez hear Mr. Pulliam accuse Mr. Williams of sexually assaulting him, and at no point did Mr. Ramirez see any sort of evidence indicating Mr. Williams sexually assaulted Mr. Pulliam. CP 47. Mr. Ramirez intervened and also told Mr. Pulliam to leave. CP 47.

Mr. Williams also asserted Mr. Ramirez would testify that he spent the night and heard a phone conversation between Mr. Williams and Ms. Turner. CP 47. During the conversation, Mr. Williams emphatically said Mr. Pulliam was the one who assaulted him, and he told her to go ahead and call law enforcement. CP 47. Mr. Williams provided her with his address to pass on to the police. CP 47.

Counsel was deficient in neglecting to both contact Mr. Ramirez and Mr. Bloom and in failing to call Mr. Ramirez and Mr. Bloom as witnesses. There is no reasonably legitimate tactical reason for counsel to forego contacting witnesses that can undermine the State's evidence. And no conceivably reasonable tactical reason exists for counsel to neglect to introduce the testimony of a witness who can undermine the State's key witness. *See Byrd*, 30 Wn. App. at 798-800.

This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

F. CONCLUSION

Mr. Williams respectfully requests that this Court grant review.