FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/14/2021 4:05 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99772-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL ANDREW WILLIAMS,

Petitioner.

Petition for Review

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Prosecuting Attorney

Teresa Chen Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 31762/ OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave., Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-7400

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The court of appeals' opinion demonstrates no conflict with *Burke* in holding that any error in admitting some of the victim's statement through the SANE would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where the victim had already testified to the same facts without objection and subject to cross-examination.

After this appeal was briefed, this Court issued an opinion in *State v. Burke*, 196 Wn.2d 712, 478 P.3d 1096 (2021), reversing a decision of Division Two. The Defendant argues that *Burke* conflicts with the Unpublished Opinion here. Petition for Review ("Pet.") at 7. It does not. In fact, the State's brief relied on the WAPA amicus brief which would support this Court's decision in *Burke*. Brief of Respondent at 14-18; Brief of WAPA, *State v. Burke*, 196 Wn.2d 712, 478 P.3d 1096 (2021) (No. 96783-1) (filed Apr.24, 2020).² And the court of appeals discussed *Burke* in its analysis at some length. Unpub. Op. at 8-10, 13.

The two cases have many similar facts: a forcible rape in downtown Tacoma not far from Wright Park; a victim who was vulnerable by reason of being frequently homeless; a rapist who would elude arrest for years; and a Confrontation Clause challenge to the SANE's trial testimony. An important factual difference is that, unlike JP, the victim in the *Burke* case did not testify. K.E.H. passed away three years before Burke was identified by his DNA and charged. *Burke*, 196 Wn.2d at 718.

² <u>https://bit.ly/3wkGXo2</u>

The challenged SANE testimony in Williams' trial merely restated what JP and Ms. Turner had already testified to without objection and often in response to cross-examination questions by defense counsel. RP 339, 342-44, 363, 365-66, 371, 373, 391, 424-25, 428, 436, 438; RP (9/4/18) at 26-27, 30-32. In other words, JP's statements had been subject to testing by confrontation. The court of appeals found that the SANE's testimony was largely admissible under ER 803(a)(4), and, where it was not, it was harmless error. Unpub. Op. at 8.

In the *Burke* case, where the victim had not testified, the court of appeals found the admission of her statements through the SANE could not be harmless. *State v. Burke*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 950, 953, 431 P.3d 1109 (2018). Upon review, a majority did not reach the question of harmless error, holding that "all of K.E.H.'s statements were nontestimonial because their primary purpose was to guide the provision of medical care." *Burke*, 196 Wn.2d at 729. "[W]e view Nurse Frey as a medical provider, to whom statements "are 'significantly less likely to be testimonial than statements given to law enforcement officers' because medical personnel are 'not *principally* charged with uncovering and prosecuting criminal behavior.'" *Id.* at 733 (citing *State v. Scanlan*, 193 Wn.2d 753, 445 P.3d 960 (2019), *cert. denied*, 140 S. Ct. 834, 205 L. Ed. 2d 483 (2020)). The concurring opinion would have found harmless error where there was

physical evidence supporting the allegation of force. *Burke*, 196 Wn.2d at 763-64 (Gordon McCloud, J., concurring).

The Defendant argues that no court can find a medical purpose exception in a patient's disclosures to a nurse in the course of the medical examination unless the patient first testifies that he went to the nurse with the specific intent of obtaining medical treatment. Pet. at 8-10. But *Burke* says no such thing. K.E.H. had died before trial. The court did not require K.E.H. to testify about why she met with a SANE after she had been treated and medically released by other treatment providers. *Burke*, 196 Wn.2d at 718. This Court looked to the contents of the conversation and the SANE program itself.

[N]early all of the statements were made primarily for medical purposes. K.E.H. made these statements in a medical exam room in a hospital. She needed medical treatment specific to her sexual assault, which Nurse Frey provided. Although K.E.H. had been medically cleared from the emergency department, this did not mean that she was no longer in need of any medical treatment. Instead, she was no longer in need of *emergency* medical treatment and was cleared to go on to the next step for her: the sexual assault exam. While some patients in this situation may choose to leave the hospital and not attend this exam, it is uncontroverted that this is part of the process of treating a sexual assault patient. This was this patient's next step, and the fact that the hospital did not have the staff to address this step immediately does not mean the statement was nonmedical in purpose. Additionally, while the consent form K.E.H. signed indicated that general medical care would not be provided during the sexual assault exam, Nurse Frey did provide treatment and prescribe medication *specific* to the sexual assault during her exam.

Burke, 196 Wn.2d at 734-35 (emphasis added). *See also Scanlan*, 193 Wn.2d at 728-29 (where medical providers in follow up appointments inquired as to the identity of the domestic abuser, such inquiry was necessary to understand how to treat injuries and whether the patient would be safe upon discharge). The information which the Defendant claims supported the holding in *Burke* (Pet. at 14) is general information about the SANE program. *See* Brief of WAPA, *supra*. While the *Burke* record provided different detail, the procedure and purpose of a SANE exam and interview does not change from patient to patient.

The Defendant argues that Exhibit 19A is irrelevant, because it was not published to the jury. Pet. at 15. But the defense explicitly agreed that the information in this exhibit was admissible, and it was from this exhibit (redacted per the defense request) that the prosecutor drew questions and the nurse drew her answers. RP (9/4/18) at 10, 1. 6. It indicates what the nurse found medically relevant, and is a proper subject of the court's attention.

B. A court does not express an opinion on the defendant's guilt by using the rape victim's initials in a publicly filed writing.

The Defendant's subsequent roommate JSB requested an order of protection after the Defendant headbutted him, breaking JSB's nose and

fracturing his teeth, and stalked him with online apps that provided location access. CP 89-90, 103-04. JSB told the court that the Defendant was capable of holding a grudge for a long time and taking revenge long after the slight occurred. *Id.* (alleging that on several occasions, the Defendant had threatened to shoot people with his shotgun and to kill their animals and mail them back in pieces.) That appears to be the motive for the Defendant's perseverance on naming his earlier victim JP in publicly accessible documents that will be available on the internet.

In his appeal, the Defendant has argued that using JP's initials rather than his full name in the jury instructions was a judicial comment on the evidence and violated his public trial right. The victim testified openly before a jury under his own name, and the Defendant did not preserve error by making this objection below. He does not renew his public trial claim, but asserts that the use of JB's initials in a jury instruction presents a significant constitutional question. Pet. at 17. It does not.

The court of appeals followed precedent in finding the use of initials was not a comment on the evidence. Unpub. Op. at 14. Although the Defendant cites RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), he offers no contrary precedent. Pet. at 17. Crime victims have a constitutional right to be treated with respect and dignity. WASH. CONST. art. 1, sec. 35. That respect begins with the courts, but it is also a part of our culture. As the State has explained, there is no reason that the jury would interpret a comment from the use of initials. Brief of Respondent at 24-29. The jury lives in a society where it is an established and common practice not to name alleged victims of sexual abuse without their permission and for social media terms of service to sanction those who would dox them. The claim is frivolous, unpreserved, and does not demonstrate manifest constitutional error. RAP 2.5.

C. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a motion for new trial premised upon an unsubstantiated claim that witnesses had seen the victim and defendant many hours before the rape would occur.

The Defendant continues to allege that his attorney neglected to call specific witnesses. Pet. at 20. This is simply not the record. The attorney did not neglect to call them. He searched for them and could not find them.

In the motion for new trial, the Defendant alleged that witnesses had observed him in an argument with an inebriated JP early in the evening many hours before the rape. CP 46-47. After eight months with an investigator, his second attorney had no better luck than the first: the alleged witnesses could not be found to validate this allegation. RP 632-33, 652-53. And the trial court found that, even if the Defendant's allegation were true, it would not bear on events which occurred later that night when the Defendant and victim were alone. CP 74; RP 656. The finding is tenable. It does not implicate any constitutional question or involve an issue of substantial public interest.

V. CONCLUSION

The Petition for Review does not present a consideration permitting

review under RAP 13.4(b). It must be denied.